
The original documents are located in Box 16, folder “Nixon, Richard - Pardon: Buchen 
Press Conference” of the Ron Nessen Papers at the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library. 

 
Copyright Notice 

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of 
photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material. Ron Nessen donated to the United 
States of America his copyrights in all of his unpublished writings in National Archives collections.  
Works prepared by U.S. Government employees as part of their official duties are in the public 
domain.  The copyrights to materials written by other individuals or organizations are presumed to 
remain with them.   If you think any of the information displayed in the PDF is subject to a valid 
copyright claim, please contact the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library.  



•··~~ . - j 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE SEPTEMBER 8, 1974 

OFFICE OF THE WHITE HOUSE PRESS SECRETARY 

AT 12:12 P.M. 

PRESS CONFERENCE 
OF 

PHILIP BUCHEN 
COUNSELLOR TO THE PRESIDENT 

THE BRIEFING ROOM 

MR. TER HORST: Gentlemen, if you are ready for 
the briefing, we have Philip Buchen, the legal counsel of 
the White House to address your questions on the President's 
statement and on the documents you have in your hand. 

As you know, he is the President's legal adviser. 
He was very much a participant in the preparation of this 
proclamation and so here is Mr. Buchen to ~ake your questions. 

I think he may have an opening statement which 
-~e may like to read first. 

MR.BUCHEN: Thank you, Jerry. 

I appreciate your all being here on this 
Sunday morning, or midday. 

I wanted just to say a few thin~s first, because 
it may answer questions in advance, and at the conclusion 
of these remarks, I will try to field the questions you 
throw this way. 

In addition to the major developments of this 
morning when President Ford granted a pardon to former 
President Nixon, I have two other legal developments to 
announce which occurred prior to the issuance of the 
proclamation of pardon. 

The first involves the opinion of Attorney 
General William B. Saxbe and President Ford dealing with 
papers and other records, including tapes, retained during 
the Administration of former President Nixon in the White 
House offices. 

In this opinion, the Attorney General concludes 
that such materials are the present property of Mr, Nixon; 
however, it also concluded that during the time the materials 
remain in the custody of the United States, they are subject 
to subpoenas and court orders directed to any official 
who controls that custody. And in this conclusion, I have 
concurred •. 
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This opinion was sought by the President from 
the Attorney General on August 22. 

Q When you say the President, you mean 
President Ford? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

The reason for seeking the opinion was the conflict 
created between Mr. Nixon's request on the one hand for 
delivery to his control of the materials, and on the 
other hand, the pending court orders and subpoenas 
directed at the United States and certain of its officials. 

The court orders have required that the custody 
of the materials be maintained at their present locations. 
And both the orders and subpoenas have called for the 
identification and production of certain materials allegedly 
relevant to court proceedings in which the orders and 
subpoenas originated. 

In addition, we were advised of interests of 
other parties in having certain records disclosed to them 
under warning that if they were to be removed and delivered 
to the control of Mr. Nixon, court action would be taken 
to prevent that move and to protect the claimed rights 
to inspection or disclosure. 

Therefore, it became fully apparent that unless 
this conflict was resolved, the present Administration 
would be enmeshed for a long time in answering the 
disputed claims over who could obtain information from 
the Nixon records, how requested information could, as 
a practical matter, be extracted from the vast volume of 
records in which it might appear, and how, and by whom 
its relevancy in any particular court proceeding could 
be determined, and at the same time to try satisfying 
the claims of Mr. Nixon that he owned the records. 

Within a week of the request by the Attorney 
General for an opinion made by President Ford, I was 
advised informally of what its general nature would be. 
From that time on, I realized that the opinion itself 
wouldrot provide a practical solution to the handling 
and manag~ment of the papers so as to reconcile rights and 
interest of private ownership with the limited but very 
important rights and interest of litigants to disclosure 
of selected relevant parts of the materials. 

Thus I initiated conversations ~ith the Attorney 
General's Office, Special Prosecutor Jaw rski, with attorneys 
for certain litigants seeking disclosure, and with Herbert 
J. Miller, as soon as he became attorney for Mr. Nixon. 

The purpose of these conversations was to explore 
ways for reconciling these different interests in records 
of the previous Administration so that this Administration 
would not be caught in the middle of trying on a case-by
case basis to resolve each dispute over the right of access 
or disclosure. 
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The outcome of these conversations was the 
conclusion on my part that Mr. Nixon, as the principal 
party in interest, should be requested to come forth with 
the proposal for dealing satisfactorily with Presidential 
material of his Administration in ways that offered 
reasonable protection and safeguards to each party who 
has a legitimate court-supported right to production of 
particular materials relevant to his case. 

Mr. Nixon and his attorney then agreed to 
pursue this approach and in company with White House 
Counsel, they were able to accomplish the second of the 
developments which I am announcing today. 

And that is the letter agreement,of which you 
have copies, between former President Nixon and Arthur 
F. Sampson, Administrator of the General Services 
Administration. 

These two developments are, of course, much less 
significant than the one you have learned about earlier. 
President Ford has chosen to carry out a responsibility 
expressed in the Preamble to the Constitution of ensuring 
domestic tranquility, and has chosen to do so by exercise 
of a power that he alone has under the Constitution to 
grant a pardon for offenses against the United States. 

About a week ago, President Ford asked me to 
study traditional precedents bearing on the exercise 
of his right to grant a pardon, particularly with 
reference to whether or not a pardon could only follow 
indictment or conviction. The answer I found, based on 
considerable authority, was that a pardon could be 
granted at any time and need not await an indictment or 
conviction. 

President Ford also asked me to investigate how 
long it would be before prosecution of former President ~ 
Nixon could occur, if it were brought, and how long 
it would take to bring it to a conclusion. 

On this point, I consulted with Special Prosecutor 
Jaworski and he advised me as follows, and has authorized 
me to quote his language, and I quote: 

"The factual situation regarding a trial of 
Richard M. Nixon within Constitutional bounds is un
precedented. It is especially unique in view of the 
recent House Judiciary Committee inquiry on impeachment, 
resulting in a unanimous adverse finding to Richard M. 
Nixon on the article involving obstruction of justice. 

"The massive publicity given the hearings and 
the findings that ensued, the reversal of judgment of a 
number of Members of the Republican Party following the 
release of the June 23rd taperecording, and their 
statements carried nationwide. And, finally, the 
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~esignation of Richard M. Nixon require a delay befo~e 
selection of a ju~y is begun of a period f~m nine months 
to a year, and perhaps even longer. 

"This judgment is predicated on a review of the 
decisions of the United States courts involving prejudicial 
pre-trial publicity." 

Q Is that the end of the quotes? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, I am going on to indicate 
something else that will be of interest to you. That is 
the end of that quote. 

Another quote from his communication to me is as 
follows: "The situation involving Richard M. Nixon is 
readily distinguishable from the facts involved in the 
case of United States versus Mitchell, et al, set for 
trial on September 30th. 

"The defendants in the Mitchell case were 
indicted by a grand jury operating in secret session. 
They will be called to trial, unlike Richard M. Nixon, 
if indicted, without any previous adverse finding by 
an investigatory body holding public hearings on its 
conclusions." 

That is the end of the quotation. 

Q Would you end that last sentence again? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. It is an important one. 
"They," meaning the defendants, "will be called to 
trial, unlike Richard M. Nixon, if indicted, without any 
previous adverse finding by an investigatory body holding 
public hearings on its conclusions." 

Except for my seeking and obtaining this 
advice from Mr. Jaworski, none of my discussions with 
him involved any understandings or commitments regarding 
his role in the possible prosecution of former President 
Nixon, or in the prosecution of others. 

President Ford has not talked with Mr. Jaworski, 
but I did report to President Ford the opinion of the 
Special Prosecutor about the delay necessary before any 
possible t~ial of the former President could begin. 

I would also like to add on another subject, 
no action or statement by former President Nixon, which 
has been disclosed today, however welcome and helpful, was 
made a pre-condition of the pardon. 

That is a negative hecause.of the word "I}Q" 
at the beginning. I might add that whether or not it 
was disclosed today, it was not a pre-condition. 
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- 5 -

Q There were no secret agreements made? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

President Ford in determining to issue a pardon 
acted solely according to the dictates of his own con
science. Moreover, he did so as an act of mercy not 
related in any way to obtaining concessions in return. 

Q Would you go over the last phrase? 

Q After "mercy". 

MR. BUCHEN: Mercy not related in any way to 
obtaining concessions in return. However, my personal 
view --

Q Is that yours or Ford's? 

MR. BUCHEN: Mine. -- is that former President 
Nixon's words, which I have had a chance te read, as you 
have, that followed the granting of a pardon, constitute 
a statement of contrition which I believe will hasten the 
time when he and his family may achieve peace of mind and 
spirit and will much sooner bring peace of mind and spirit 
to all of our citizens. 

Q Would you review that sentence? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

However, my personal view -- these are my own 
words -- is that former Presidon Nixon's words expressed 
upon his learning of the pardon, constitute a statement 
of contrition which I believe will hasten the time when 
he and his family may achieve peace of mind and spirit 
and will much sooner bring peace of mind and spirit to all 
of our citizens. 

Now I have only one other paragraph that I would 
like to bring out in conclusion. I want to express for 
the record my heartfelt personal thanks and appreciation 
to a dear firend of the President's and of mine. He is 
Benton Becker, a Washington attorney, who has served 
voluntarily as my special and trusted consultant and 
emissary in helping to bring about the events recorded 
today. 

Q Emissary to Mr. Jaworski or Mr. Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: To Mr. Miller and Mr. Nixon, not 
to Mr. Jaworski. 

MORE 



··....._.; 

- 6 -

I also acknowledge with deep gratitude the 
services of William Casselman, XI; who is the highly 
valued counsel -- who was the highly valued counsel to 
Vice President Ford for his whole tenure in that office, 
and is now my close associate ·in the service of the 
President of the United States. 

Q Who informed President Nixon that he was 
getting a pardon, and also is President Ford basing this 
pardon only on the fact that it would have taken a long 
time to try the Presidency in his own conscience? 

MR. BUCHEN: Let me take the first question 
first. 

When Mr. Becker went to San Clemente on 
Thursday evening, he was authorised to advise the former 
President that President Ford was intending to grant a 
pardon, subject, however, to his further consideration 
of the matter because he wanted to reserve the chance to 
deliberate and ponder somewhat longer, but he was 
authorized to say that in all probability a pardon would 
be issued in the near future. 

The second question? 

Q The second question is: There is no admission 
of guilt here at all and despite your assumptions that it is 
contrition, there is no actual admission of guilt. Do you 
agree? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, my interpretation is that it 
comes very close to saying that he did wrong, that he did 
not act forthrightly. 

Q Mr. Buchen, what is the linkage between 
the agreement between Mr. Sampson and Mr. Becker's negotia
tions at San Clemente? 

MR. BUCHEN: The initiative for getting an 
agreement that would help solve our problems came from me 
and I advised Mr. Miller as attorney for Mr. Nixon that 
that was my desire. I so advised him before I knew anything 
about a contemplated pardon. 

Q Mr. Buchen --

MR. BUCHEN: May I finish, please? 

However, as we purused talks on what to do with 
the papers, I made it very clear to Mr. Miller that I wanted 
the initiative to come from him and his client as to the 
specifics of what he and his client would be willing to do 
regarding the management and ultimate disposition of the 
papers and tapes. 
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Q Mr. Buchen, what will this mean as far as 
former President Nixon's role as a witness in the upcoming 
trials are concerned? 

MR. BUCHEN: It would have no effect on that. 
If the documents do get transferred in a timely fashion, 
it may permit him to review the pertinent material more 
adequately so far as his testimony is concerned. 
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Q Mr. Buchen, doesn't this pardon eliminate 
any possibility that the former President might invoke 
the Fifth Amendment to testify? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you better ask his own 
lawyer that. As you know, this applies only to offenses 
against the United States. It does not apply to 
possible offenses against State law. 

Q But regarding offenses against the United 
States, he would have no Fifth Amendment rights now that 
he has been pardoned; is that correct? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know that you can separate 
them when you plead. 

Q Mr. Buchen, why did the President decide 
to do this now at a time before the jury has been 
sequestered in the September 30th trial? 

MR. BUCHEN: That will have to be information 
that will have to come from his statement. I have nothing 
to add. 

Q Can you tell us if the President has 
assured himself that former President Nixon is not guilty 
or liable to accusation of any very serious charges that 
have not been made public so far, that there is no other 
time bomb ticking away? · 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't think he said that. 

Q No, no, I am saying, has President Ford done 
anything to assure himself that there is no evidence 
of any more serious criminality committed by former 
President Nixon than what is generally out in the House 
Judiciary Committee report and this sort of thing? 

MR. BUCHEN: So far as I know, he has made no 
independent inquiries. If he had wanted to satisfy 
himself as to the content of the evidence still in the 
White House, of course, that would have been an insur
mountable task, as you have no idea of the huge volumes. 

Q Did you assure yourself 

MR. BUCHEN: Just a minute. There are huge 
volumes. However, I did personally consult with Mr. 
Jaworski as to the nature of the investigation being 
conducted and I was able to tell the President that so far 
as I was able to learn through that inquiry, there were 
no time bombs, as you call them. 
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Q Mr. Buchen, what was the President's reaction 
when Mr. Becker conveyed this message to him? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know that it was done in 
person. I don't think he was necessarily in the room, so 
I don't believe he can 

Q Did you get any reaction from the President, 
even if it was by mail or through counsel, did the 
President say he was grateful for this? 

MR. BUCHEN: The only reaction we have gotten 
is the statement that came over the wire. 

Q Are you saying that Ziegler got the word 
from Becker and that President Nixon was not informed 
personally at any time by Ford or by any amias~y? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you will have to ask Mr. 
Becker that. My understanding is that initially the 
talks went through Mr. Ziegler, but there were also 
face-to-face mee~ings between Mr. Becker and the 
President and what occurred by one method, and one 
by the other, I don't know. 

Q There was no personal contact between 
Ford and Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: None at all. 

Q You refer to Becker as an emissary and 
you talk about one meeting out there Thursday to notify 
him. What were the reasons for his previous trips back 
and forth? What was discussed? 

MR. BUCHEN: Becker only went once. 

Q Only on Thursday? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. And not only to discuss that, 
they had to work out the details of that letter agreement 
because Miller and Becker were in negotiation and Miller 
had to consult his client and they had to make modifications. 
And they had to call back to see whether that fit in correct
ly with what General Services Administration could feasibly 
do. So,.that involved a lot of the time he was out there. 

Q Mr. Buchen, did Mr. Jaworski inform you that 
an indictment, or indictment~ against former President 
Nixon were expected? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, he did not. 
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Q May I follow that, then? Isn't the granting 
of a pardon at this stage an admission that an indictment 
was expected and that conviction was probable? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you have to recall that 
word came out that the Grand Jury at one time wanted to 
name the former President, or then President, as a co
conspirator and that is one evidence that something more 
would have happened. 

And I think it is very likely, from all we have 
read, that there would be people who would want him prose
cuted and would intend to do so, although I don't say that 
that was Mr. Jaworski's view. 

Q Was Mr. Jaworski ever consulted about this 
pardon, ever asked about this? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. 

Q Did Jaworski agree to what was done today? 

MR. BUCHEN: He has no voice in it. 

Q Do you know what his mood or sentiment was? 

MR. BUCHEN: You will have to ask him. I want 
to get to Peter, here. 

Q I wanted to follow up that line. You know 
we are not able to get a response from Mr. Jaworski's 
office and it would really help us for you to tell us 
all you can about the status of the investigation against 
the President, former President Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't have that information, Peter. 
That is kept in his shop. 

Q But in that regard, why was he not consulted 
about what kind of action he contemplated against the 
President before the pardon was issued? 

MR. BUCHEN: We didn't think that was relevant • 

. Q You assumed he would be prosecuted; is that 
right? 

MR. BUCHEN: We assumed that he may be prosecuted. 

Q When was Jaworski told? 

MR. BUCHEN: About the pardon? 
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Q About the pardon. 

MR. BUCHEN: I called him about three-quarters 
of an hour before I knew the President was going to announce 
it so that he would know it. 

Q Today? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q What was his reaction? 

Q When was that? 

MR. BUCHEN: He thanked me for advising him in 
advance of his hearing it over the radio or TV. 

Q And he did not object? 

MR. BUCHEN: He didn't. He didn't say anything 
one way or the other. 

Q As we read this statement, which does not 
admit guilt whatsoever, what is to prevent the former 
President from going out, say six months hence, and saying 
that nothing was really ever proven against him and he 
was hounded out of office? 

MR. BUCHEN: I guess he has the right to say 
that because, until an indictment and conviction, I think 
that would be true in his case as well as anybody else's 
case who is under a cloud of suspicion. 

Q But President Ford spoke of the historical 
aspects of this and what is going to keep history from 
getting more muddled than ever? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think the historians will take 
care of that. 

/ 

Q Mr. Buchen, does President Ford plan to grant 
a similar pardon to the former President's subordinates who 
are scheduled to go on trial later this month? 

MR. BUCHEN: To my knowledge, he has not given 
that matter any thought. 

Q Can you clarify, was the agreement reached 
with the GSA about the disposal of the tapes and documents? 
Was the pardon contingent on that? 

MR. BUCHEN: Neither. 

MORE 



- 12 -

Q They are not together? 

MR. BUCHEN: Right. 

Q Number two, why did he choose 10:30, Sunday 
morning, to make the announcement? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think you will have to ask him 
that. He figured that this was a very solemn moment that 
exemplified, I think, an act that was one of high mercy 
and it seemed appropriate, I think, to him that it should 
occur on a day when we do have thoughts like that, or should. 

Q Mr. Buchen, I don't understand why you 
contrast the treatment of Nixon with the treatment of 
Mitchell coming up. If I understand your statement right, 
you said that Mitchell has not had the publicity and the 
action by a hearing as Nixon had before the House Judiciury 
Committee. 

MR. BUCHEN: That was Mr. Jaworski's statement. 
That was not mine. 

Q I don't understand this and maybe you can 
explain what you think he means there. Mitchell certainly 
had the hearing with conclusions and explanations of 
conclusions of a hearing by the Watergate Committee. 

MR. BUCHEN: There was a hearing, but I don't 
know how conclusive the findings were. 

Q There was a hearing and Mitchell testified. 
There was a public hearing and there were conclusions and 
recommendations on that, and a press conference on that, 
and great publicity. 
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MR. BUCHEN: I would judge that Mr. Jaworski 
does not find those conclusions prejudicial to Mr. Mitchell's 
upcoming case. 

Q Mr. Buchen, the President, in his statement 
this morning, referred to this matter threatening the 
former President's health. Do you have any further details 
on that? Do you know anything about the former President's 
health that we don't? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, I didn't go out there, so I 
didn't see the man. 

Q Do you know what he meant by that? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think it is generally known 
that this man has suffered a good deal. I think you people 
who saw him more recently than I have can form your own 
conclusions. 

Q Has Mr. Ford and Mr. Nixon talked this 
morning? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, not to my knowledge, but I do 
not believe they did. 

Q Do you know,was the President in a depression 
and has the President threatened to commit suicide or 
anything like that? 

MR. BUCHEN: I have no knowledge. 

Q You say that you looked into this matter 
from a constitutional standpoint for the President, and 
I am sure you looked into the history of it. Has any 
President ever granted a pardon before in history to 
anyone prior to that person being charged with a crime 
formally? 

MR. BUCHEN: Oh, yes, there are lots of 
precedents for that. 

Q Like what? 

MR. BUCHEN: 
named Mr. Burdick, was 
testify regarding some 
Customs Service during 
was given a pardon. 

Well, one of your colleagues, 
pardoned before he was asked to 
alleged criminality involving the 
the Wilson Administration and he 

Q He was a newsman? 

MR. BUCHEN: He was a newsman. 

And, of course, the pardons granted by President 
Lincoln, for example -- the pardons granted after the 
Whiskey Rebellion and other insurrections, were applied 
to people who were not indicted. 

MORE 

• 



- 1~ -

Q Mr. Buchen, I am a little confused at your 
words, more or less dismissing the question of whether 
or not th~.President would grant pardons to Mr. Haldeman, 
Mr. Ehrli~an, Mr. Mitchell and the others who will 
go on trial September 30th. Is it not fairly 
clear to you, or at least do you not, here in the White 
House, admit the possibility that their defense now, in 
light of the action of President Ford today, will be 
that the President has pardoned the man under whose 
orders they were operating and what is your reaction to 
this possible line of defense or line of appeal by the 
defendants in that trial? 

SureLy, this must have been given some con
sideration and I again would ask you what you think is 
going to happen, what you think the President would do 
when confronted with this question? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I question your broad characteri
zation that the acts for which they are being charged were 
necessarily 

Q I am just suggesting this may be their 
defense. 

MR. BUCHEN: This may be their defense. Now, that 
will become Mr. Jaworski's problem and, of course, 
the judge's problem. You have already seen that Mr. 
Jaworski apparently assumes that the situation in their 
case is far different from the situation in the former 
President's case. 

Q Phil, can I ask you this: Did this process 
that led up to the pardon today start a week ago when the 
President came to you? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Was there something that happened just 
prior to his coming to you that got his interest working 
in doing this thing just now? 

MR. BUCHEN: If there was, I don't know what it 
was, Ron. 

Q Have they talked on the phone at any 
time this ~eek, or immediately prior to this week? 

MR. BUCHEN: They have not talked on the phone 
since Jack Miller became his attorney. 
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Q Did this process start after last Sunday's 
publication of the Gallup poll that said that the majority 
of the public wanted to see Mr. Nixon prosecuted? 

MR. BUCHEN: Let me figure my dates. That was 
Labor Day week-end, was it? I worked all Labor Day week
end so it came before that. 

Q To what extent did the transition team look 
ahead to the problem of a pardon, and have you done any work 
at all --

MR. BUCHEN: They didn't consider that. They had 
far too much else to consider. 

Q As a matter of equal justice under law, 
we have now had the two top officials of the United States, 
both allegedlyinvolved in crimes, namely, Vice President 
Agnew and Mr~ Nixon, who have been freed of criminal 
charges. Both of them are entitled to go around the 
country and represent themselves as being innocent. What 
is a citizen to make of that situation when ordinary 
criminals, including the aides involved in this, have 
to be tried? 

MR. BUCHEN: Of course I cannot speak at all 
for the treatment of former Vice President Agnew because 
this Administration was not in any way involved. But I 
think you have to understand -- and maybe it is a good time 
on Sunday to think about it -- that there is a difference 
between mercy and justice. 

I don't think that you can assume that mercy is 
equally dispensed or how it could be equally dispensed. 

Q Mr. Buchen, is there any pardon being 
considered for the aides who performed their acts allegedly 
in the name of and in behalf of Richard Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: I have already spoken to that question. 

Q I don't think you have, Mr. Buchen. I am 
actually talking about those now in prison, not Mr. Nixon. 
John Dean and others? 

MR. BUCHEN: So far as I know, no thought has been 
given to that. 

Q Mr. Buchen, is it now possible under the 
agreement on the custody of Presidential tapes and 
papers for any tape made during the Nixon Administration 
to be subpoenaed even though it is not now the subject of 
a subpoena? 
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MR. BUCHEN: It· is possible. In order to get a 
subpoena, or court order, of course, certain showings 
would have to be made. It is also possible, of course, for 
the owner of the tapes to interject objections. 

Q A follow up to that. If the owner of those 
tapes doesn't want to give them up -- he has now been 
pardoned of everything what·is the leverage? 

MR. BUCHEN: It doesn't affect the court orders 
or subpoenas, and he is subject to the consequences of 
not obeying a valid court order or subpoena. 

Q In other words, that would come under the 
expiration date ·of August 9 in the pardon; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Do you feel the agreement with Mr. Sampson 
has insured that the Ford Administration cannot be impli
cated in any Watergate cover-up? Was that one of your 
considerations? 

MR. BUCHEN: That was not involved because I 
don't think that is a relevant issue. 

Q Is there any change in the rules of access 
to documents by former White House aides? 

MR. BUCHEN: The problem is that there would, of 
course, be an interim before the Nixon-Sampson letter agree
ments can be fully implemented. How we will handle the 
interim arrangements, I am sure can be worked out with 
Jack Miller as attorney for Mr. Nixon. 
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Q As you recall, in the Agnew case, a paper 
prepared by the Justice Department listing the law viola
tions by the former Vice President was presented in court 
on the theory that the American people were entitled 
to have the full story in addition to the specific 
charge to which the former Vice President pleaded? 

In President Ford's preparation for today, what 
thought did he give to the presentation of an analysis 
by Special Prosecutor Jaworski of the full extent of 
President Nixon's role in the Watergate case, and is there 
any understanding at this point of eliminating Special 
Prosecutor Jaworski's ability to pursue that type 
of investigation? 

MR. BUCHEN: There is no limitation on what 
Mr. Jawarskican do except, of course, the putative 
defendant has the defense now of pardon. 

On the first part of your question, there is 
a distinct difference between asking a man to plead 
guilty to a limited offense and the treatment of Mr. 
Agnew, of course, was done under very different circumstances 
by the system of justice. In this case, it was reliance 
entirely on the pardon powers which involve acts of 
mercy. 

Q You said earlier that you had assumed that 
Mr. Nixon may have been prosecuted, is that as far as 
you are willing to go on that issue? Did you all think it 
was likely that he would be prosecuted? 

MR. BUCHEN: If you mean tried or indicted? 

Q Indicted? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think it would be very likely 
that he would be indicted. How and when he could be tried 
was still an open question. 

Q This likelihood, is that on the strength 
of your conversation with Mr. Jasorski that you think 
it was very likely? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, it was largely on the basis of 
what the Grand Jury apparently intended to do on the basis 
of less evidence than is now available. 

Q Mr. Buchen, if the ex-President retains the 
sole right of access to the documents and as I understand 
this GSA agreement, can even limit access by the Archivist 
of the United States and his staff, why should the United 
States remain as custodian of the documents at all? 
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MR. BUCHEN: There is a double-key arrangement. 
In other words, access can't be obtained by either the 
former President or the General Services Administration 
except by their concurrent acts. 

Q But he could conceivably, to prevent himself 
from embarrassment, limit access -- no one could see these 
documents during the three years the United States 
agrees to act as custodian. 

MR. BUCHEN: Unless there is a court order or 
subpoena. 

Q What about the court orders or subpoenas 
that are outstanding? 

MR. BUCHEN: We will have to take this agreement 
to the courts involved in those proceedings and seek relief 
from the present processes and subpoenas on the basis 
of the current agreement. 

Q Mr. Buchen, did you and the President give 
much consideration to the fact that a criminal trial 
could have clearedMr. Nixon of the charges of possible 
guilt, could have cleared him, cleared his name? 

MR. BUCHEN: We certainly recognized that as a 
possibility. Whether it was given any consideration, 
I don't know. 

Q I mean by you or the President? 

Q Well, you were there. What was your 
own view? 

MR. BUCHEN: My own view is that that was a 
possibility. If that was what the former President wanted 
to do, he certainly would have told us. He didn't have to 
accept the pardon. 

Q Did you recommend the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: I had nothing to do with recommending 
it or disrecommending it. 

Q Did you ever discuss the political implications 
of this pardon with the President? 

MR. BUCHEN: I did not. 

Q Mr. Buchen, to follow up on some of these 
other questions, it seems that President Ford has an interest 
in building into the public record a record of Mr. Nixon's 
alleged criminality for the same reasons that Mr. Agnew's 
alleged criminality was made a part of the record, to prevent 
him from saying that he was driven out by political 
opponents, et cetera. Is President Ford satisfied that 
former President Nixon's record of wrongdoing is sufficiently 
in the public record now? 
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MR. BUCHEN: All I can tell you is that he knows 
nothing that you don't know. 

Q Mr. Buchen, does the pardon in any way 
affect Mr. Nixon's payment of back income taxes? 

MR. BUCHEN: Not at all. This does not apply to 
civil liabilities. 

Q Let's get back to this double-key 
arrangement. This is just so much lawyer's language. 

MR. BUCHEN: I know that is complicated. 

Q Does that double-key arrangement prevent 
the President from going in there and destroying some 
of those tapes if he wanted to? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, it does. 

Q So, there is adequate safeguards? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Does it mean that if any of those tapes 
are subpoenaed and he just refuses to honor those subpoenas, 
then what would happen? 

MR. BUCHEN: He would be subject to contempt of 
the court that issued the subpoenas. It doesn't apply to 
any future acts, 

Q When will the tapes be physically moved 
to this repository in California or are they going 
to remain here? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, they will be moved to the Cali
fornia repository as soon as we can get rid of, or 
modification of the existing orders that require they be 
retained here. 

Q Is that that Laguna Niguel pyramid they 
will be put in? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q But nobody can get in there by themselves. 
There will always be somebody to watch; is that correct? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q When you way "current", are you referring 
to the two court orders that are pending? 
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MR. BUCHEN: There are at least three court 
orders that I know of. One is in the Wounded Knee 
case in Minnesota. Another is in the nature of an order 
because the court declined to issue the order on the 
assurance that documents or tapes could not be moved, and 
that is the case involving the networks. So, you can 
get Ron to answer your questions on that. 

The third one is the civil suit in North Carolina 
involving a suit by people kept out of a meeting to 
celebrate Billy Graham Day. 

Q Mr. Buchen, Mr. Jaworski has, of course, 
in his possession a considerable number of tapes which 
are not the originals. They are copies. This agreement 
with Ur. Sampson does not affect that, does it? They 
don't have to be returned to the mass to be moved out to 
Laguna? 

MR. BUCHEN: The copies will be disposed of as 
the court orders, I assume. 

Q But this does not require them to be re-
turned to the big group? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. 

Q Can I clarify the chronology of all this? 
When is the first time the President indicated to you 
he might want to pardon Mr. Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Just at the start of the Labor Day 
weekend. 

Q On which day? 

MR. BUCHEN: I know I started to work Friday 
night, so it must have been Friday. 

Q Did you have any contact with Mr. Miller 
on the issue of a pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Not at that time. The first contact, 
I think, was on Thursday of this week. 

Q And you can't suggest what precipitated 
the President's interest? 

MR. BUCHEN: I do not know. 

Q Can you tell us whether the President ever 
tried to I hesitate to use "extract" -- but get 
any admission of guilt from the President, or was it 
strictly 

MR. BUCHEN: He did not. 
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Q Mr. Buchen, you said that President Ford has. 
not talked to former President Nixon since Mr. Nixon 
retained Miller. Could you tell us the last time President 
Ford had contact with President Nixon, direct contact? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know. I think it may have been 
the time of the Rockefeller appointment. 

Q Mr. Buchen, I am not clear on one thing, 
and following up Helen's question, your emissary went out 
on that Thursday, Mr. Becker went out on Thursday, that 
was the only time he went out. I am trying to get clear 
in my mind precisely what it was he told the former 
President, or told Mr. Ziegler, and both of them at different 
times, that President Ford, in all probability would grant 
a pardon. What did he ask either of Mr. Nixon or Mr. 
Ziegler? What did he ask that Mr. Nixon do? Did he ask 
that this statement we have been given today be 
issued? Did he suggest wording and what it should say 
or did he ask for nothing? Did he ask for more than what 
we got in this statement? 

You say at one point the former President could 
have turned down the pardon. 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Did he offer that option and did he say 
if the pardon was to be granted, what the former President 
then should do? 

MR. BUCHEN: The former Pre.sident was represented 
by counsel, you know. 

Q Well, did he make the.offer to Mr. Miller? 

MR. BUCHEN: Mr. Miller is shrewd enough 
attorney to know that he could have advised his client 
to accept or reject the pardon. 

To answer your other question, as you can 
see, that letter agreement is a very complicated one 
and it involved a lot of practical problems. Before 
Miller and Becker went out, a rough draft of Miller's pro
posal was.in our hands. But it was obvious that we could 
not work out the details of·what would suit Miller's 
client and what would suit GSA and what·would suit what we 
thought was the best interests of the ·Government and .of the 
potential other parties .in interest without going out and 
making the final draft out there. And that was done. 

As far as the statement from the .. former President· 
is concerned, that was a matter·that was left entirely 
up to the discretion ·of his own .counseJ. .. and .. hi& 
own advisers. 
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Q Let me see if I can put it another 
way, Mr. Buchen. Was the pardon in any of the conversa
tions involving yourself, Mr. Becker, or anyone else, with 
anyone representing the former President, was this 
pardon contingent on anything? 
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MR. BUCHEN: I have said no and I repeat no. 

Q Are you saying if he had not given this 
letter at all, if he had said, "Well, I will make no letter 
agreement," are you saying categorically that a pardon 
would have been issued anyway? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am not sure because President 
Ford could have changed his mind or not made up his mind 
finally. 

Q When was the package completed that was 
announced todajr? 

MR. BUCHEN: We got the agreement back on early 
Saturday morning and spent that day reviewing it with 
Mr. Sampson so that was wound up. 

Q You mean yesterday morning? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, yesterday morning. The statement, 
of course, we didn•t see until we got it over the wires right 
after the speech. 

Q Did the President know there was going to 
be a statement before he finally decided on the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q Did he have any idea what the contents would 
be, what the tone would be? 

MR. BUCHEN: In a general way, yes. 

Q You are saying that the pardon had nothing 
to do with this letter agreement? 

MR. BUCHEN: That was not a condition. 

Q This was a completely independent action? 

MR. BUCHEN: Right. The negotiations for that 
agreement were started independently before even considera
tion of a pardon. 

Q The decision to pardon was not made until 
after this agreement was obtained? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q What you are saying, you cannot say there 
would have been a pardon if the agreement had not been 
made? 
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MR. BUCHEN: All I can say is that the President 
had the right not to grant a pardon because he had not 
finally made up his mind to do so. 

Q When did he make up his mind to do so? 

MR. BUCHEN: I suppose until that pen got on paper 
or until he started making the statement. 

Q He made his decision after the agreement was 
made? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is correct, but what went on 
in his mind, I don't know. 

Q When did he write the speech? 

MR. BUCHEN: Last night. 

Q In sending this word through the emissary 
to Mr. Nixon that he was thinking of or expected to 
pardon him but was reserving time judgment, was that in 
any way intended as encouragement to Mr. Nixon to get 
on with the final agreements and possibly offer the kind of 
a statement that he did offer today? 

MR. BUCHEN: That was not the intent. If it 
created that impression, it was a wrong impression. 

Q Mr. Buchen, you just said that the President had 
an iadication in a general way of content of the former · 
President's statement. If I may ask a two-part question: 
How did he obtain this indication, and did he believe, or 
was he informed,that the statement would be one of contrition? 

MR. BUCHEN: The report was through the mouth 
of Benton Becker, and the characterization of it as an act 
of contrition is mine. 

Q Excuse me, then. What general feeling did the 
President have that the statement would be, what indication 
did he have of what the statement would be? How was it 
characterized by Mr. Becker? 

MR. BUCHEN: He in general told the President 
what it amounts to and in particular called attention to 
the fact that there would be an acknowledgement of failure 
to act decisively and forthrightly on the matter of the 
Watergate break-in after it became a judicial proceeding. 

Q Was that negotiated at all? 

MR. BUCHEN: It was not negotiated. 
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Q Was Mr. Becker informed of that on 
Thursday at the time he went out there? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think he was informed on Friday 
because he got out there very late on Thursday night. 

Q Do you know if that information had any 
effect on Mr. Ford's decision? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know. I am sure it pleased 
him and made him feel that it was easier for him to act 
as he contemplated doing. 

MR. BUCHEN: We will take three more questions. 

Q Would you please clear up some things about 
this letter of agreement. I am sorry, but it will take me 
some time to understand it. Let me see here if this is · · 
what it means. Unless there is a subpoena or a court 
order which Mr. Nixon would reply to, any ordinary citizen 
of the United States, or any officials, outside of Sampson, 
could not just go in there and look at these tapes or 
listen to them, or see them at any time. They will be shut 
off completely to the public? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Mr. Buchen, why is the date of July 1969 
mentioned in the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: It is January, the date of inaugura
tion, January 20. President Ford misspoke when he used 
the word "July". 

Q How complete was.your explanation of the 
case against the former President by Mr. Jaworski? Did 
he go into what areas that he might be pursuing, what 
he heard on the tapes that have not been made public? 
Anything like that? 

MR. BUCHEN: The question asked him what matters 
could arguably involve further steps, and it read like a 
list from one of your newspapers. 

Q Did Mr. Becker talk strictly with you or 
did he ever speak to Mr. Ford? Did he deal strictly with 
you? 

MR. BUCHEN: Oh, no; he was also in the room 
on occasions when I was speaking to the President. 

Q Why did he pick Becker to do this? 
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MR. BUCHEN: Part of the problem, as you may 
know, is we have a rather understaffed legal staff here 
and Mr. Becker is a man of rare talen that helped during 
the confirmation hearings of the Vice President, and he is 
such a good and trusted friend of both of ours that we 
felt he was the one we should call on. 

THE PRESS: Thank you. 

MR. BUCHEN: All I am going to say is, for the 
tapes there will be two five-year windows. The first 
of the five-year windows involves controlled access by 
the former President for his listening to copies of tapes, 
copies to be made by an operator who himself does not listen 
to the originals. 

Also, during the first five-year window, anyone 
with a legitimate court subpoena or order that is upheld 
can have access or can require the former President to 
furnish the information contained on relevant portions of 
the tapes. 

At the end of that first five-year period, the 
former President retains his window, but also can order 
selective destruction of tapes. At the end of the ten
year period, they all get destroyed, all that remain. 

Q In the second five-year window, is that just 
by persons who have legitimate subpoenas and court orders 
closed off? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right, because there is a 
five-year statute of limitations on most, in fact on all, 
Federal offenses and most civil matters, so it is assumed 
the initial five-year window is long enough. 

Q What is the limit on destruction after 
five years plus one day, or can he destroy them all? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can. 

Q He can? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can order them destroyed. 

Q If they were making any copies, would the 
originals then be destroyed in the second five-year window? 

MR. BUCHEN: The originals will be destroyed. 
The copies will be destroyed immediately after they are 
used. 
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Q And he could do it after five years and 
one day for everything? 

MR. BUCHEN: Right. 

Q Now can you go then from there to the 
documents? 

MR. BUCHEN: The documents are a different 
category. There is no present gift of documents as 
distinguished from the tapes. However, there is a three
year period when there will be controlled access by the 
owner of those documents requiring the double-key 
arrangement with the General Services Administrator. And 
the former President is under obligation to respond to 
any subpoena involving documents, just as he is to those 
involving tapes. 

During the threa-year period involving documents, 
the former President will be under obligation to respond 
to subpoenas involving those documents. At any time,the 
former President can designate certain documents by 
description to become the absolute property of the United 
States. 

However, after the three-year period, he may 
either elect to complete his gifts or to withdraw materials 
as he desires. These are documentary materials. 

Q Why the three-year limit? 

MR. BUCHEN: We felt that as a practical matter 
on the documentation that would be long enough. It gives 
everybody a warning. Obviously if there is a subpoena 
out that was obtained in the three years and the matter 
of its resolution has not been concludec, the subpoena 
would prevail. 

Q Can you destroy the documents after three 
years? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, if he wants to withdraw them. 
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Q By the way, Mr. Buchen, I may be wrong in what 
I am about to say, but I am going to p~edicate a question 
on it, neve~theless. 

I am under the imp~ession that the tapes, as 
opposed to documents, the tapes were -- that things such 
as taperecordings were not covered when Congress covered 
that loophole and for that reason, the former President 
could donate those tapes to the Gove~nment and claim 
a tax exemption. 

Your second window, the ten-year time for dest~c
tion appears ,to rule that out; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: He has al~eady given them to the U.S. 
Government to be a gift effective at the end of the 5-year 
period. 

Q After he destroys them all? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can't destroy them during the 
first five-year period. 

Q He has given them as a gift to the United 
States -- we are talking about tapes now -- he has 
given them as a gift to the United States for five 
years; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, it is the othe~ way around. 
He has retained title for five years and the gift takes 
effect at the end of the fifth year. 

Q But he can destroy his gift? 

MR. BUCHEN: He doesn't have access to them. 

Q But he can the next day. Didn't you 
say five years and one day he could destroy them all? 

MR. BUCHEN: He can order their destruction. 

Q What can he do with the copies? Can he 
dispose of them for his own purpose? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, the copies will go back into the 
hands of the General Services Administrator and they 
will be d~stroyed after he has listened to them. 

Q Mr. Buchen, after the ten-year period, is it 
mandated that the tapes, all tapes and all copies be 
destroyed? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is a condition. 
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Q So, his gift in the second five years is a 
limited gift, in time it is a limited gift, say limited 
to five years; is that right? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. 

Q You say he has given them to the United 
States? 

MR. BUCHEN: Effective five years from now. 

Q 
five years? 

Why are they going to be destroyed after 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, maybe they never should 
have been made in the first place. This was his desire 
and I think it is consistent with the fact that these 
matters do involve conversations with people who had no 
realization that their voices were being recorded. 

As an old spokesman for the right of privacy, 
I think there is considerable merit for putting these in 
a separate category from documents. 

Q Mr. Buchen, was any consideration given 
to the right of history? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am sure the historians will pro
test, but I think historians cannot complain if evidence 
for history is not perpetuated which shouldn't have been 
created in the first place. 

Q Is there anything he can keep, or intends to 
keep? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am sure there are items in the 
documents that he would intend to keep. Of course, it 
would involve family letters, things of a highly personal 
nature. 

Q Mr. Buchen, if it is Mr. Nixon's desire to 
destroy the tapes after ten years, would it not be logical 
to assume he will destroy them after five years? 

·MR. BUCHEN: That is his option, order them 
destroyed. 

Q What about the gift option? The tax deduction 
option? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am not his tax lawyer and it seems 
to me if you give a gift with~instructions that the items 
have to be destroyed, that the gift immediately loses its 
value, so I would think it would be very questionable. 
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Q What about the P~esident, though? Coul~ 
he --

MR. BUCHEN: They will not be pe~petuated 
beyond the limited use. 

Q Does the woro "copies" include ~itten 
t~ansc~ipts as well as the o~iginals? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes. 

Q As a p~actical matte~, at the end of 
five yea~s, then all the tapes will be dest~oyed except 
those unde~ subpoena? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, because he reserves the right 
to keep the window open fo~ himself fo~ anothe~ five yea~s? 

Q Just the P~esident, no public? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Is it a question they can be dest~oyed 
in five years, but must be destroyed in ten ye~s? 

MR. BUCHEN: They can't be destroyed sho~t of 
five years. 

Q Mr. Buchen, Prosecutor Jaworski gave no 
indication that he objected to the pardon. Is it your 
impression that he sort of feels relieved? 

MR. BUCHEN: Wouldn't you if you were in his 
place? 

THE PRESS: Thank you. 

END (AT 1:28 P.M. EDT) 
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MR. HUSHEN: · As I announced earlier, Mr. Philip 
Buchen, the Counsel to the President has agreed to come 
back out here today to answer some of the questions 
you have. 

Let me say we are ~oing to give them 60 seconds 
to get some photographs and then they will go away. 
{Laughter) 

Let me say at the outset that the document 
that is about to be handed out is embargoed until the 
completion of the briefing. 

MR. BUCHEN: This is a follow-up, of course, 
of the meeting we had on Sunday. And at that time someone 
asked the question about the disclosures made to me 
by Special Prosecutor Jaworski to the areas of investigation 
in which his special force was engaged. 

And my answer was that the question asked him 
was: ' 1What matters could arguably involve further steps?" 

And I reported that it read like a list from 
one of your newspapers. 

You have now before you the document that was 
furnished to me and' although the copy of the Special 
Prosecutor's memorandum from Henry Ruth to 
the Special Prosecutor dated September 3, 1974, on the 
subject of Mr. Nixon was sent to me in confidence, Mr. 
Jaworski has since advised me that, if I were willing 
to assume the responsibility for its release, he would 
raise no objection to my doing so. 

However, he cautioned that in the event of 
its release, he would expect that it bemade available in 
its entil:'ety, including the first and last parav,raphs 
of the memorandum, and I quote that the first paragraph 
reads: 

"The following matters are still under investi
gation in this Office and may prove to have some direct 
connection to activities in which Mr. Nixon is personally 
involved:" 
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At the conclusion of the memorandum Mr. Ruth, 
in reporting to Mr. Jaworski, wrote: 

"None of these matters at the moment rises to 
the level of our ability to prove even a probable 
criminal violation by Mr. Nixon, but I thought you 
ought to know which of the pending investigations 
were even remotely connected to Mr. Nixon. Of course, 
the Watergate cover-up is the subject of a separate 
memorandum." 

Now I will try to field any questions. 

Q Tell us about considering pardons 
for everybody involved in Watergate? 

MR. BUCHEN: I am not involved in that matter. 

Q Well, who is? 

MR. BUCHEN: I said at the time of the last 
press conference to my knowledge no thought was being given 
to that and I have not been called in to do any part 
of the study so far. I assume I will be. 

Q Who is at this Point? 

Q Who is considering this, the President? 

MR. BUCHEN: The President made the statement. 

Q Mr. Buchen, can you tell us if anyone tried 
to persuade Mr. Nixon to confess guilt prior to the granting 
of the pardon by President Ford? 

MR. BUCHEN: No. Mr. Mille~ at the time that I 
informed him that the President was considering a possible 
pardon for Mr. Nixon, was told by me that I thought it would 
be very beneficial in the interests of the country, in the 
interests of the present Administration and in the interest 
of the former President, that as full a statement as possible 
should be issued by Mr. Nixon but that I had been told 
that that was not a condition to the consideration of the 
pardon. 

Mr. Miller at tbat time assured me that he agreed 
with me that such a statement should be forthcoming 
from his client. 

Q Mr. BucHen, I was wondering, if,as the 
President's legal counsel~· , would you advise that the 
President in this study about the possibility of giving 
amnesty to all the Watergate people, tbat·excluded~ · 
from the people doing the study should be all Nixon hold
overs? Would you advise, or do you think it is reasonable 
for Nixon holdovers to participate in a study of possible 
amnesty to all Nixon defendants? 
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MR. BUCHEN: I think that is a decision the 
President will have to instruct me on. 

Q How would you advise him? 

Q Did you finish you answer to the earlier 
question? 

MR. BUCHEN: I was finished. 

Q Could I follow-up th~n, sir? Did the former 
President balk at this, was there. negotiation on what 
finally came out in his statement afterwards? 

Did you see that statement, sir, or did. anyone 
else in the White House see it prior to its issuahceq 

MR. BUCHEN: When Mr. Becker came back from 
San Clemente, he was able to report the substance of 
the statement that he thought would be forthcoming after 
the announcement was made. 

But we did not have the statement in the form 
in which it was ultimately delivered. 

Q Arte you satisfied that this was as'fulla 
statement as possible coming from the former President? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is something that I think would 
require going into the former President's mind. Obviously, 
if you do not condition an,act of mercy on the recipient 
of the mercy doing anything, you are not in a position 
to do much bargaining. 

Q Mr. Buchen, did Mr. Becker go to San Clemente 
with a much stro.nger statement, or a statement --

MR. BUCHEN: He had no statement in hand. 

Q You say he came back with a statement 
he ·.reported the substance of the statement he thought 
would.be forthcoming. Was that substance substantially 
different from the statement that·was then issued? 

. MR. BUCHEN: No, the essential feature was the 
statement that the President believed he had not acted 
decisively and forthrightly in respect to the Watergate 
once it became a judicial proceeding and the regret for 
having done wrong was i:n the report that Becker gave us. 

Q Was it your hope or intention early in those 
negotiations to get Mr. Nixon to agree to a statement in 
which he admitted his own personal wrong-doing and 
involvement in the Watergate cover-up? 
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MR. BUCHEN: Again I had t9 rely on what 
Mr. Miller believed would be in the best interests of 
his client and the country, because I had no authority 
to extract a statement of my own making. 

Q Not what was in the former President's 
mind, but what was in your mind? Do you think that the 
final statement met the standards that you and Mr.· 
Miller discussed at the meeting? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I think they did, because, 
as some of your papers have already suggested, the very 
fact that a man a'ccepts a pardon does imply that he 
believes it is necessary for him to h~ve that pardon, or 
that it is useful for him to have that pardon. 

And there aren't many instances in which it is 
useful to have a pardon unless there is a strong probability 
of guilt. 

Q Mr. Buchen, do you think that you and President 
Ford misread the public's acceptance of the terms of this 
pardon and the ~cceptance in Congress? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I was not doing much reading 
on the outside as to what might happen. That was really 
outside my bailiwick; so·r cannot tell you. 

Q Mr. Buchen, do you and the President hope 
that the former President will at some time, perhaps 
in the near future, release some kind of formal statement 
detailing further his connection with Watergate? 

; 

MR. BUCHEN: I have not given that any thought 
and I assume that would be entirely up to the former 
President. 

Q Mr. Buchen, you were involved in the pre-
accession negoti~tions and pre-transition operations of 
the Ford Administration. Was there at any time any dis
cussion between any high-ranking member of the Ford group and 
any member of the Nixon group as to the possibilityof a 
pardon for Nixon in advance of his leaving office? 

\ . 
' .MR. BUCHEN: I answered that question Sunday and, 

to my knowledge, there·was absolutely none and it never 
came up as _a matter to be discussed by the transition teaJllJ• 
And I. think I participated in virtually all meetings of 
the .transition team. 

Q How about between Ford and Nixon alone? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't believe so.· 

Q Can you find out definitely whether there 
was no deal before Nixon left office? 

MR. BUCHEN: \¥ell·, I know the man in the 
President's office quite well and I can assure you he 
did not make a deal. I know him that well. 
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Q Mr •. Buchen, he assured us in a press 
conference it would be untimely to do sucb a thing, and 
he assured us when he was nominated for Vice-President 
that the American people would not stand for it. Can 
you give us an explanation of this? 

' MR. BUCHEN: Let's take the first; the matter of 
untimeliness seems to me to involve a debate that really 
makes little sense, because a man who had to consider 
whether or not. to grant a pardon, it seems to me, has to 
consider the fact that if a pardon is desirable, the 
earlier it comes, the better. 

It is like making a man walk a plank. You wait 
until he takes the first step. You wait until he gets to 
the middle of the plank. You wait until he jumps off the 
end, and then dive in to rescue him. I think it represents 
let me put it this way. I don't think an act of mercy can 
ever be untimely, and it certainly becomes less merciful 
if you postpone the agony. 

Q Mr. Buchen, in that statement, you are 
suggesting that the former President was going to go 
off the end of ·the plank? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think there was a strong. 
possibility. 

Q When Mr. Becker was out at San Clemente, 
did he discuss in the President's presence whc:.t the 
PreS'ident might say in a statement, and did the President 
get angry at the suggestions that he admit guilt? 

MR. BUCHEN: I think those negotiations were 
entirely. with t1r. Ziegler, so I don't thi:1k we have any 
knowledge of what the President --

Q The New York Times states this morning 
as I quoted it. 

Q You better clear up what you mean by 
"walking the plank;" do you mean suicide or going to jail? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, as I und;~rstand "~inlking the 
plank," it is because the man has been convicted of some 
crime that offended the master of the ship, or not 
convicted, say indicted. 

Q What about the question of health; Mr. 
Buchen, how did that figure.into this decision? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know becaus.e I wasn't 
party to any of the investigations or discussions, if 
there were any, about the former President's health. 
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Q Did you say Mr. Becker at no'time spok~ 
to Mr. Nixon in San Clemente? 

MR. BUCHEN:' I didn't' say that. 

Q _ I thgught_you ~aid the negotiations were 
enti~ely wi~h Mr. Ziegler? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know whether there were 
negotiations·, but the matter of· the content of the 
President's statement, which he contemplated giving 
when the pardon was issued,~was dealt' with entirely . 
through Ron Ziegler. The only face-to-face matters 
taken up with the f.ormer President dealt with the manner 
of managing and dispOsing of his papers and tapes·• 

Q Mr. Buchen, did Mr. terHorst ask you on 
Friday whether Mr. Becker was involved in discussing 
a pardon with the former President·during his trip to 
California, and if he ~id, what did you teii him? 

MR. BUCHEN: .~ell, we be~ter clear that one 
up. 

Jerry terHorst reported to me that som~one 
had observed Benton Becker and Jack Miller in the area 
of San Clemente. Jerry terHorst asked me what the· 
purpose of my. having sent Benton Becker out to San Clemente 
was, and I said, .. that the purpose was to take a document 
that had been p:r'epared in rough draft before he left 
Washington, had been prepared by Mr. Miller, which related 
'to the management and disposing of the tapes and records. 

. . 

However, . we objected and wanted changes in those 
documents, partly because we were concerned as to the · 
practicality of some of the proposals made insofar as they 
involve the Administrator of the General Services 
Administration. 

The matter is very complex, as you see, so I 
suggested, when Mr. Miller said he.would have to.go and 
discuss the terms of that document with his client, ·that 
Mr. Becker go along, so that there would be a way that 
Mr. B.ecker could. be on hand as changes, additions or 
whatnot were proposed and so that he would ava~lable to 
report back to me on the progress of t}?.e negotiations. 
That was.the purpose of the assignment. 

Q We specifically asked you if Mr. Becker 
was out there engaging in pardon negotiations? 

M~. BUCHEN: There were no pardon negotiation~, 
that is the point. 
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Q Anything at all? 

Q You sent him out with instructions to say 
that the President had this under consideration? 

Q Would you answer my question, please? 

. MR. BUCHEN: Mr. Miller knew that the pardon 
was under cohsideration, and he could report to nis,.eli~nt .• 
It was not necessary for Mr. Becker to do anything in · 
connection with the pardon • 

. Q Didn't Mr. Becker take out a.copy.of the 
proposed pardon? 

·MR. ·BUCHEN: Yes, he di;,g. :Ct.~as a draft that 
he and I had worked on very hurriedly Th~~sday afternoon 
before he had.~o leave on the plane. I said, ~Benton, 
you are going ''to be five hours on that plane, take a copy 
along, k7ep ~qrking on it, I dqn't think.it is in the 
form we want to submit t·o the President for 'his con
sideration. Take it along and work on it.'' 

Q· You didn't tell Mr. terHors~ that? 

MR. BUCHEN: No, I will explain; as you may 
aP.pre.ciate, being counsel. to anyone'· O~,t.lawyer to anyone, 
impose·s certain restrictions, .. and I belitve, on this 
matter.; I was under complete restriction as a lawyer 
to the President riot to disclos'e what I was doing for 
the President on a matter that he regarded as highly 
confidential. 

Q 

Q 
on Friday? 

I 

Did the subjecit of pardon ever 

Would you say that you·misled Mr. terHorst 

MR. BUCHEN: No, I can see how he could have qeeri 
misled. I don't say he could not have been~ After all; if 
you get~ question, why"is a man whom~you~have sent·to 
·san Clemente fhere, and, I give him an answer, I can see 
when he in· t\rJ:?n · ha'd to respond to the man~ or . the ·':r·eporter 
making the inquiries, that he would inj'ect a negat·l. ve, ' 
was he there doing anything else. And I assume that 
Jerry said, "Well, as far as I know he·wasn•t," because 
I had not told him he was doing anything else. 
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Q Did you tell him he wasn't out there 
discussing the pardon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Oh, no. 

Q Why was it something you couldn't talk 
about? 

MR. BUCHEN: I could talk about the negotiations 
on the tapes. 

Q When he asked you about the pardon? 

MR.-BUCHEN: He didn't ask me about the pardon. 

Q What was the·preaision of language used in 
President Nixon's statement? 

MR. BUCHEN: Let me get the question. 

Q What was the need for the secrecy in the 
negotiations, whatever they were? 

MR. BUCHEN: In the CO\lrse of any client and 
attorney relationship, usually until something happens, you 
are under obligation not to di.sclose the. conversations. 

Q I mean, what was t~e need for secrecy about 
the fact that a pardon was being considered, generally, 
not just your conversations with the President? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, generally, that was the 
President's decision and not mine. I was just bound by 
my client-attorney relationship. 

Q Hr. Buchen, if Mr. Becker knew all about the 
pardon, the President seemed to trust him with that 
information, yet he didn't trust Mr. terHorst with that 
information? 

Q Or you didn't trust Mr. terHorst with it? 

MR. BUCHEN: I had no power to subdelegate in 
passing information. The first question is why didn't 
the President trust Mr. terHorst to have the information 
at the same time I got it? 

Q No, I mean Mr. Becker. You are talking about 
the attorney-client relationship, which involves you 
and the President; Mr. Becker is someone.outside that 
relationship, yet he kpew about the.pardon because he 
was wor~ing on the par(ion agreements. 

MR. BUCHEN:· No, he had the same relationship 
that I had in terms of his being a lawyer and working 
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under my supervision as a lawyer for a client. As in a law 
office, if a client comes into an office and the lawyer 
assigns a law partner to work on it, the obligation extends 
to the other lawyer as well as the original one. 

Q Can you be forthright with us on what is 
your advice to the President on pardoning other individuals 
associated with the --

MR. BUCHEN: I have not given him any advice. 

Q 
the issue? 

What would be your advice; how do you see 

MR. BUCHEN: I haven't even had time to study it. 

Q When did the President's other advisers find 
out that the pardon was under consideration or was to 
be granted, and did they agree with it when they found 
out about it? · . 

Q And did you? 

MR. BUCHEN: I was in the room at the time 
when certain advisers were told about it on Friday 
before Labor ·nay, but I don't feel free to report their 
reactions. 
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· Q Can you tell us what role General: Haig ,. · 
played in this granting of the pardon? He was. in :on · · 
all of this ·all the time, wasn't he? Was he reco~e~ding 
a pardon durfng 'this period? 

Q What was the question? 

·. MR. BUCHEN: I was asked· that· question last 
night and I can tell you that every occasion when I 
was present when the subject was raised and 'General Haig 
was there, he took an absolutely neutral stand. 

Q Did ;you say you are·not part of the study 
for the other Watergate defendants? Can you tell me when 
you became aware that that sttfdy was in the' works? 

MR. BUCHEN: I learned from Mr. Hartmann arid 
Mr. Hushen that this matter was brought up at the early' 
morning conference. 

Q Who brought it up? 

.Q Tqday for the fi~st time? 

Q Did you say there was a connection between 
the pardon for the others and the reaction against the 
pardon for Nixon? And secondly, if you are the President's 
lawyer and you are not working on it, who is? 

don't. 
MR. BUCHEN: Well, I don't know, Ron. I really 

Q W~at about the first part of that question; 
is he trying to dampen down the reaction by giving out 
pardons to the others? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I don't interpret studying 
a pardon as predicting what the results would be. 

Q Mr. Buchen, as a lawyer, can you see a 
distinction between a President granting a pardon to a 
former President and granting pardons or not granting 
pardons to former subordinates for involvement in the 
same illegal acts? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, there certainly is a 
distinction. I will later have available for distribution 
because I don't think there will be many questions on it 
a memorandum, a copy of a memorandum that Mr. Jack Miller 
prepared for the Special Prosecutor in which he rather 
carefully documents the reason why the situation of his 
client is distingu~le from the situation of anybody 
else's remotely involved in the acts, or Watergate-related 
events. 
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You wili remember I quoted a letter from Mr. 
Jaworski who did say he thought there was a distinction. 

Q Phil, could I ask you this question: Does 
not the mere fact that the White House has mads a statement 
saying that pardons for all Watergate de.f:::ndents are under 
study, does that not intrude upon the jud HL: process 
to the point that the trial for the Wate'i"';jate :Jefendants, 
the trial for September 30, is somehow intruded upon 
and interfered with by this statement? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I don't think so. You see, 
after all, the fact that there can be a pardon hangs 
over the trial of anybody. That is not a unique situation. 
The power to pardon exists in the Federal Constitution 
and I believe in every State Constitution. 

Q This is a matter of great and intense 
national interest. It is not like the case of any 
defendants. This is a case of specific defendants that 
have been involved in a great national drama or what 
have you, so it is a different case, is it not? 

MR. BUCHEN: Yes, but the Presidential pardon 
power, as wAll as that of a Governor of a State, hangs 
over the judicial process all the time. 

Q What purpose was served by anpouncing 
this morning, or authorizing Jack Hushen to announce it 
this morning? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I was not party to that 
determination so I can't tell you. 

Q What purpose was served by announcing the 
Jaworski letter on the ten point.s? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, as I indicated, it was 
given to me on a confidential basis. The comments that 
have been.made around town is that there .was not a 
consideration given of what was, what someone else 
called "are there any possible time bombs", and we felt 
that it would be in the interest -- provided Mr •. Jaworski 
consented -- that we do provide you with the information 
on which the President in part acted before he decided 
to grant the pardon. 

Q In this study that is being undertaken, 
sir, what is your unde.rstanding of the philosophy behind it 
-- that families of all Watergate defendants have suffered 
enough, or what other considerations? 
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MR. BUCHEN: I can't go beyond the statements 
Jack ga>Ve you. That is· all. I know.· ·.-, 

.; ; 

Q Where did it first, come up? .. 

'Q Where did this subject: of possible clemency 
for all: other Watergate defendants· ·first cdirie up? You · · ., · 
didn't make that clear:. You said ·"an' ear~y: metrri.J.ng · 
conference" • 

Q What morning?· · 

MR. BUCHEN: .;This morning. 

Q What were'the circumstances? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't know except it'was· reported 
to me by Mr. Hartmann and Mr. Hushen that it was raised 
this morning. 

Q· Where? 

MR. BUCHEN: I assume with the President. I 
don't know the circumstances. 

Q Is this a reaction,· Mr. Buchen? Is· this. · 
consideration of the study, corisideration·of pardons, 
and the announcement of this study, is this a reaction 
to the popular outcry against the pardon of the former 
President? 

MR. BUCHEN: I don't think so because the fact 
that two people az:ie brought into his confidence th~s 
morning and that confidence has beert shared with you 
today,'doesn't mean that that is when the thought came. 

I explained on Sunday when the ·question was 
asked me as to whether any thought was given to the way 
in which the·pardon power might be exercised, if·at all, 
respecting otlier people involved, I said that to my 
knowledge -- meaning that as far as l knew -- no thought 
had been given. But that didn't mean that the thought 
processes weren't going on unbeknownst to me or unbeknownst 
to the people who got the reports this morning~ 

Q M:r. Buchen, in going back to my other 
question, you said mercy is never untimely. Was the 
President not merciful ten days ago when he said it 
would be·untimely; and was the President lacking in mercy 
when he told ·the committee that· the· American peopJ..Ef · 
wouldn't· stand for it? · · · 

What caused him to be suddenly merciful? Could 
you tell us what happened? 
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MR. BUCHEN: I wish you would come up here 
and explain the theory of mercy. You can probably do 
a much better job than I can, 

But let me tell you, it is not whether to be 
merciful,.but how he could be merciful, and I do not 
think he was a\·:are that he could act before there wa.s 
any formal indictment when he made his statement before 
the press. 

Q Wasn't the President briefed on that 
very point before the ne~Js conference? Wasn't he 
briefed that there would be a question on pardon and 
this was a policy adopted? 

MR. BUCHEN: That is right. 

Q Why was that policy changed, that there 
would be no pardon until there was due process? 

MR. BUCHEN: You have lost me, I am sorry. 

Q He announced a policy at that news 
conference and you say he was briefed on that policy. 

MR. BUCHEN: He said that he would make no 
commitments. His intention then was to make no commitments 
on the pardon until something had been brought to him. 

Q Why was that changed? 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, because after the conference, 
I assume he reflected on the matter,and then asked me to 
find out whether or not he could move quicker than he 
had indicated at the press conference. 

Q Did you brief him prior to the news 
conference that the best policy was for him to wait 
until there was some --

MR. BUCHEN: No, I did not. 

Q With whom was he in touch with at that 
point? Can you tell us who he consulted between Wednesday 
and Friday when he asked you to begin your research into 
precedents? 

MR. BUCHEN: I have no notion; I really don't, Pete • 
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.Q What is your understanding of the 
investigation·status refe:t:?red to in the memo? Is 
Jaworski going on in his investigation·of these 
points? Is he going to furnish material to the public? 

MR. BUCHEN: I know nothing more than what is in 
the memorandum. 

Q The Watergate cover-up, it says, is the 
subject of a separate memorandum. Has that memorandum 
reached you?· 

MR. BUCHEN: It has not. 

Q Do you know what it concerns? 

MR. BUCHEN: I can imagine what it concerns. 

Q Does it indicate to you·, .. as a. lawyer reading 
this, that that number one is ongoing and unlike this 
listing of ten points which according to the memo may 
prove to have some connection, but then says there is 
no point we can prove regarding Mr. Nixon --·does that 
indicate to you that is a different story entirely · 
when it comes to the cover-up? 

MR. BUCHEN: As you·know, this memorandum was 
issued·before the pardon, so I don't know what the effect 
of the pardon has on the investigation referred to in 
the last paragraph. 

Q You must have had some indication from 
the Special Prosecutor where he stands with regard to 
the cover-up investigation·. 

MR. BUCHEN: I do not. 

Q In preparing your advice for·the President, 
did you address at all the time element of granting this 
pardon, with specific ·refarence to the possibility that 
the Watergate cover-up trial might be affected since the 
jury had not been sequestered? 

MR. BUCHEN: I did not discuss that with the 
President, but I understand, of course, that, one, it 
is not certain the jury would be sequestered. I assume 
it is available to the attorneys for the defendant to 
waive any such request; and, second, I arri· not· sure· that 
a story like this could possibly have been kept from the 
jury however tightly sequestered. 
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Q. Mr. Buchen, did you get from Mr. Ziegler 
or from Mr. Nixon,either after Mr. Becker returned,here 
or while he was there, some sort of commitment that the 
President would not in the future make statements 
protesting his innocence? 

MR. BUCHEN: We did not. 

Q Mr. Buchen, ar'e you saying that the Presi-· 
dent did not know or understand at the time of the 
August 28 press conference that .the par'doning powel"' 
could be exercised before indictment Or' conviction? 

MR. BUCHEN: I cer'tainly had not so advised him, 
and.he had not asked my advice, 

.Q .You didn't say that? Do you have reason 
to believe ,that, that he d~dn't believe he could move 
before the· indictment was voted? 

MR. BUCHEN: That I don't know. I didn't ask 
him. 

Q You so far' .have not given us any explana-
tion for' why MX". For'd changed his mind after that pX"ess 
confer'ence with the possible exception of his X"eceiving 
this documentation of the investigation. 

Does that mean that the investigation tur'ned 
out to be so ser'ious that .he thought the.former President 
wouldn't withstand it? 

MR. BUCHEN: No; I think more significant than 
that was the advice that I reported Sunday, namely, that 
beforethere could be a trial, there would have to be a 
delay of a year or more, and I think that was the matter 
that concerned him most. 

Q Don't many triais take a year or more to 
come to the court or to settle? And why is Mr. Nixon to 
be treated any differently in this respect than anyone else? 

MR. BUCHEN: Every defendant under the law is 
entitled to a prompt trial provided he can have a fair 
trial by an impartial jury. 

Q When did you advise the President of the 
long delay of nine months or a year? Was that after 
the press conference? 
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MR;. BUCHEN: He asked "me--·after the press 
confereftce, or that Friday, 'to f1nd the answer •. so 
appareiit1y someone had told him that that probabl9 would 
be the case. ;_;.: 

But he wanted his own lawyer to ask the Special 
Prosecutor who would be the best judge, of how long it 
might take, and that is the reason I went to Mr. Jaworski, 
so we would have an expert opinion. 

I don't claim to be·. an expert. On the other 
hand, I have read the cases that are cited by Mr. Nixon's 
own attorney who makes the same arguments very effectively 
in a memorandum that you can all take back to your legal 
counsels, because I don't think you want to read it all. 

Q However you did know that indictments could 
be very quick,·· the ·question of laying out ·.the . charges. on 
the public record would not have taken ·very long --··maybe 
a month; is that correct? 

MR. BUCHEN: As you know, the word came out 
that the former President -- then the President -- was 
about to be named as an unindicted co-conspirator, so the 
indictment involves -- that involves the·"de.fendants, involves 
probably everything that i~volves Mr. Nixon alone. 

Q But it is not the same, really. 

MR. BUCHEN: · I think it is pretty good evidence 
of what that jury intended to do and would have done'if 
there had not been a pardon. 

Q Was consideration given to the timing of 
when this jury would have done this, vis .... a-vis the November 
elections? · l 

MR. BUCHEN: It had nothing to do with the 
elections However, it was evident it was the President's 
decision to· grant a pardon Qefore the indictment. He 
would have to act fairly soon because it was not 
possible, of course, to grade the Grand Jury in the time 
it would act. 

Q May I clear up a question here? 

MR. BUCHEN: Let me get Phil first. 

Q In view of the last sentence iri 'this memo-
randum, didn't you have any qualms about whether you could 
give the President full legal advice on what he could do? 
When it says here there are other matters and other 
memoranda which you have not seen, how could you give 
the President full advice on what he could do on the 
pardon in view of that? 
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MR. BUCHEN: Well, we believed, of co~rse, that 
the evidence before the House Judiciary Commi tt,ee on · . . 
this very point that resulted in the article that brought 
a un~nimous vote ultimately, and based on particularly 
the June 23 tape~, gave every indication of what was 
involved inthe alleged Watergate cover-up and we 
didn't think we needed to know· any more than that. 

Q I think my notes are correct, t.hat is, you 
told us earlier,. ''I. do not think (the President) was 
aware that he could grant a pardon before the indictment 
when he made his press confepenc:e statement." Is that 
right? ·· 

MR. BUCHEN: As far as I know. I don't believe 
that he was or that he understood what, if any, problems 
I am talking legal problems, now -- would arise if he 
acted before indictment. 

Q The President seemed to say in his n~ws 
confepe,nce .that he wouldn t t act on .the pardon until 
after an fndictment and your explanation_, . that there_ 
would be nirie months or a year, perhaps longer,before 
a trial, doesn't really go to the question of why he 
changed his mind about waiting until after an indictment 
to act on a pardon. 

MR. BUCHEN: Well, I _guess all I can_go back 
to is my own analogy.. . If you are going to -- if you do 
come to the co~clusion you ought to consi-der mercy, it 
doesn't seem to be very relevant to consider what other 
steps you ought to require the man to whom you are granting 
mercy must take. 

. . 
Q 'And at the news _conference-he had not made 

up his mind yet? 

· MR.. BUCHEN: He had not made up .his mind. 

Q You are saying the main reason he changed 
his mind was because somebody told him there would be 
this long delay and he nsked you to check it out and 
you did. And then he decided to.grant the pardon?. Did 
someone decide that the long delay would wreck Mr. Nixon's 
health? 

MR. BUCHEN: Not that I know of. 

Q Has there been any discussion about the 
former President not wishing to testify or be a witness? 
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Well, he is under · subpo.ena so . 

Q I know, but if you are considering pardons, 
if there is consideration for others, that would spare 
the former President from testifying, fs that part of 
this study? · 

MR. BUCHEN: I have not seen the study, so I 
don't know. 

Q In·your discussion of the oover~up 
memorandum a moment ago, you said the June 23 tape 
told you everything you needed to know about that. 

MR. BUCHEN: I didn't say everything. ··I 
also said the findings of the House Judiciary Committee .• 

• . r . 

Q Right, and earlier he spoke of the 
necessity, the acceptance of the pardon, the necessity 
for the pardon. Did this mean that you arid the President 
in offering this pardon to the· President, would make 
a presumption of guilt? 

MR. BUCHEN: First, take the "you" pronoun· 
out of that and perhaps I can answer it. I did advise 
the President that a pardon could be characterized as 
implying guilt on the part of the person who was pardoned 
because there is no other reason for granting a pardon. 
But that did not ,·deter or affect his determination to act 
when he finally made up his mind to do so. 

Q From the perspective of the person who 
accepts the pardon, does the acceptance of the pardon 
amountto a·tacit admission of guilt? 

MR. BUCHEN: You can so accept it. The question 
never came up. I· couldn't find in any cases where that 
question was litigated, so I can't give you any authority. 
But it just takes common sense and logic to reach that 
conclusion. 

Let'&'have one of the women. 
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Q Thank you. 

Throughout.this, we have h~ard sqiely about the 
consideration of'an.indictment and t}:le lengthy period of time 
between indictment and trial.· Did you try to determine 
from Mr. Jaworski the possibility of a plea from the former 
President.? . Now faced with the prospect of a mul ticount 
indictment,·· as he was and as I am sure Mr. · Miller advised. 
him, it seems extremely likely there might have been a plea 
far sooner than there would ever hav~ been. an indictment 
and trial. Did you ask for any timing on this, and if not, 
why not? 

MR. BUCHEN: I did consult, of course, with 
Mr. Nixon's Attorney, and I was pretty sure from what 
he told me that in his mind there would never be a plea. 

Q There would have been a trial then; you are 
saying he would have gone t~e whole route had he not been 
pardoned?· 

~R. BUCHEN: I believe so. 

MR. HUSHEN: Let '.s._.t.ake two mof.e questions • We 
been out here for forty-five minutes. Two more questions. 

Q Maybe you have answered this; why .did 
President Ford want met"cy for Richard Nixon? 

MR. BUCHEN: Because I think he truly believed 
it wo.uld be in the best interests of the country. 

Q Mr. Buchen, if you are done with that answer, 
I would like to ask you, as a lawyer, do you think it not 
fair and proper that, if the President considers amnesty 
or granting a pardon for persons convicted for or indictments 
for burglary, perjury, conspiracy in Watergate related 
crimes, that he should give equal consideration to pardoning 
other persons indicted or convicted of bu~el~ry,,perjupy or 
conspiracy in non-Watergate related crimes? 

MR. BUCHEN: I wish I were a better student of 
the ethics or morality of mercy, but I believe a 
representative of the clergy would substantiate my 
remarks that, throughout our religious history -- and I 
don't mean just the Christian Religion -- there has always 
been a separate category of mercy that we know has never 
been equally dispensed and we know that it is an act of 
grace that is many times inexplicable. 

I am sure all of us in the room have sought 
mercy on matters that we wanted to blame ourselves for, 
or some adverse consequences, and we didn't always get mercy. 
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Mercy seems to work in very unequal fashion. 
That is a point on which Jerry terHorst and I have 
disagreed. He has a notion, as he said, that mercy 
should be disp~nsed with in the same even~handed fashion 
as we would l~ke to see justice dispensed. 

But, I believe history tells us mercy doesn't 
work the same way. 

Q Mr. Buchen 

MR. HUSHEN: Thank you, ladies and gentlemen. 

Q ·Mr. Buchen, is there any limitation on 
the pqwer of pardons? 

. ' 

MR. BUCHEN: I refer you to --

Q Is there any limitation on this at all? 

MR. BUCHEN: I refer you to the Constitution. 

Q 
than this? · 

Is there anything he could do that was more 

MR. BUCHEN: No, not that I could find in the 
Constitution; no. 

END (1:37 P.M. EDT) 




